MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Montana Community Choice Schools
Commission Meeting

September 9, 2025
8:00 a.m. to 12:15 p.m.

Zoom
Join by computer:
https://mt-gov.zoom.us/s/87105937437 [mt-gov.zoom.us]
Webinar ID: 871 0593 7437
Passcode: 535814
Join by phone:
Dial: +12133388477
Webinar ID: 871 0593 7437
Passcode: 535814

Agenda Packet Contents:
1. Draft Minutes from 6.17.25
2. Proposed Agenda for 9.9.25
3. Treasurer’s Report Materials
4. National Association of Charter School
Authorizers Presentation
Conflict of Interest Policy
Background Check Policy
Member Handbook

Now,


https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/mt-gov.zoom.us/s/87105937437__;!!GaaboA!uoJNgkXer8pUGCZzX-oEVD5Bye4k6EQggtyj3OOY91u4fsQEQVs3VSmVU4N_L6iRHrEz3NXRTFFjiiUm$

Montana Community Choice Schools Commission
Meeting Minutes
June 17, 2025
Reeder’s Alley Conference Center, Helena MT

Call to Order - 09:01:32

Chair Schreiber called the meeting to order at 9:01 a.m. The Chair led the Commission in
the Pledge of Allegiance, Cathy Kincheloe took Roll Call, and the Chair read the Statement
of Public Participation and welcomed guests.

Commission members present: Trish Schreiber, Chair; Katy Wright (arrived 9:03AM), Vice
Chair; Jon Rutt, Treasurer; Katy Franklin; Mark Hufstetler; Dee Brown (on-line);
Commission Director of Planning, Cathy Kincheloe; Board of Public Education (Board)
staff present: McCall Flynn, Executive Director; and Kris Stockton, Administrative Specialist
(on-line).

Presenters: Mark Weinberg, National Charter School Institute; Heather Ohs, Montana
Community Foundation.

Guests: Katie Bloodgood, Office of Public Instruction; Heather Irving; Chip Lindenlaub.
Guests online: none

Public Comment - 09:03:35
No public comment was provided.

Item 1 Approve Consent Agenda - 09:04:02

Member Rutt moved to approve the Consent Agenda containing the March
4, 2025 Minutes. Motion seconded by Member Hufstetler.

No discussion. Motion passed unanimously.
Approve Agenda - 9:04:31

Member Brown moved to adopt the agenda. Motion seconded by Member
Wright.

No discussion. Motion passed unanimously.

Item Placed on Table - 9:05:05

Chair Schreiber moved to take the motion related to combining
subcommittees off the table for reconsideration. Motion seconded by
Member Wright.



No discussion. Motion passed unanimously.

Rescind a Motion from the Table - 9:05:51

Chair Schreiber moved to rescind the motion to combine the Policy
Making Subcommittee and the Special Education Consideration
subcommittee. Motion seconded by Member Hufstetler.

Discussion:
e Chair Schreiber acknowledged the unpopularity of the motion.

Motion passed unanimously.

Item 2 Chairperson Welcome Statement - 09:07:02

Chair Schreiber opened the meeting thanking Members and Guests for their participation
in the meeting then proceeded with an overview of the presentations pertaining to the
Commission’s role as the sole statewide authorizer of Community Choice Schools.

Item 3 Reports - 09:08:01

Member Rutt presented the Treasurer report and noted the balance to date which
includes the revenue expenditure by fund noting new payments for the salary and
benefits of the Director of Planning and for a contract with the National Charter Schools
Institute. Member Rutt answered questions from Commission members. Member
Schreiber questioned the accuracy of funds reported spent in the general fund. Director
of Planning clarified the amount to be corrected in the report.

Motion Made - 9:10:29
Member Schreiber made a motion to accept a correction to the financial
report. Motion seconded by Member Hufstetler.

Executive Director Flynn stated BPE staff would provide a corrected
statement.

Discussion:
e Member Hufstetler asked for clarification as to how the remaining
funds will be used. Member Rutt detailed work needed to
implement the law that may require consultants.

Motion passed unanimously.

Member Rutt gave the Fundraising Committee Report, detailing passing of an amendment
to the CCS Law in the 2025 session, allowing the Commission to seek and receive
donations from private individuals as well as sources from public funds. Member Brown
questioned if a form is available on the Commission’s website for individuals to use in
making donations. Executive Director Flynn confirmed the form is on the website and

2



asked the Commission to further consider a policy for accepting donations. Chair
Schreiber agreed with Executive Director Flynn. Member Brown inquired about posting
directions on the website for how to make a donation.

Motion Made - 09:18:29

Member Brown made a motion to provide information on the
Commission’s website for individuals wishing to make a donation to the
Commission to contact the Director of Planning as point person.

Discussion

e Member Rutt sought clarification as to which website. Chair
Schreiber clarified the Commission’s official webpage is on the
Board of Public Education’s website and to follow up with the Office
of Public Instruction to make a note on their Community Choice
Schools tab to direct any potential donors to the Commission’s
page on the BPE site.

e Member Wright questioned the donation form contents as well as
the details of the amendment. Member Wright also asked for input
from Executive Director Flynn as to the logistics. Executive Director
Flynn stated the BPE would work with the Director of Planning to
establish a clear policy for accepting donations.

e Member Franklin recommended forming policy to accept
donations. Executive Director Flynn recommended revisiting and
editing the existing policy now that the Director of Planning
position is in place and the sources of funds are expanded.

Motion passed 5-1, with Member Franklin dissenting.

In the Chairperson Report, Chair Schreiber announced new members of the
subcommittees and introduced Cathy Kincheloe as the new Director of Planning.

Cathy Kincheloe provided the first Director of Planning Report by detailing work
completed under the direction of the state procurement team to contract with the National
Charter Schools Institute for consulting services to support best practice in charter policy
development. Director Kincheloe shared take-a-ways from the NCSI Authorizer Convening
with the Commission. In addition, she listed the key responsibilities of the position as to
provide administrative management for the Commission, engage in public relations on
behalf of the Commission, and to lead fundraising efforts.

Chair Schrieber inquired if the NCSI convening discussed the use of Al in the application
process; Member Franklin offered additional comments on the topic of Al. Member
Hufstetler asked for elaboration on community alignment at the NCSI conference.
Member Brown appreciated the investment in attending the NCSI conference and sharing
learning with the Commission. Chair Schreiber highlighted the opportunity for Members
to attend future conferences.



Break - 09:40:58

Item 4 Open Discussion/Presentation: Making the Mission Matter with Mark
Weinberg, NCSI - 09:46:13

Mark Weinberg ,VP for Leadership and Learning with the National Charter Schools

Institute, presented to the Commission for consideration the idea of incorporating mission

specific measures into CCS Performance Frameworks for the purpose of ensuring Choice

Schools maintain focus on delivering on their mission.

Item 5 Lunch Break

Item 6 Open Discussion/Presentation: Philanthropic Giving Opportunities

with Heather Ohs, Montana Community Foundation - 12:00:15
Heather Ohs, Gift and Estate Planning Officer with the Montana Community Foundation
presented options for CCS and governing boards to build their philanthropic entities.
Note: The Commission took recess from 12:21:59 to 12:29:02 to correct technical
difficulties.

Item 7 Break - 13:01:47

Item 8 Discussion: Background Check Policy - 13:16:08

As follow-up to a previous meeting, members reviewed a proposed Background Check
Policy and asked questions related to the logistics of the policy such as managing fees,
storing background check information, timing, and third party verification of results.
Executive Director Flynn highlighted the need to ensure the results are handled securely.
The Director of Planning will consult a lawyer about the commission members’ questions
and make changes to the proposed policy.

Item 9 Discussion: Bylaws - 14:38:31

Commission Members asked questions and provided feedback to the Director of Planning
to make revisions to the newly developed policies required per the Bylaws: Conflict of
Interest Policy, Professional Development Approval Form, and Reimbursement Other than
Travel Form. Changes will be made accordingly.

Item 10 Open Discussion - 14:49:22

Chair Schreiber opened the floor for comments and questions from Members. Member
Wright sought clarification as to Community Choice Schools law pertaining to the
Commission’s role in oversight of content standards.

Member Brown inquired about any updates to the district judge’s pending ruling.
Members provided ideas for future meeting trainings. Suggestions provided included:

e Alegal presentation explaining the court’s findings once a ruling has been
made



e Alegal lecture about the First Amendment, specifically in examining the
establishment clause vs. the free exercise clause as they pertain to charter
schools

o A Q&A with another authorizer and/or charter leader about the application
process

Chair Schreiber asked Members to hold July 30" in case a special meeting is needed, and
she sought feedback for the location for the December Commission meeting while the
Capitol Building is under construction. The Commission decided Helena is a good
destination spot.

Public Comment - 15:12:10

Chip Lindenlaub read language from the Montana State Constitution, Article V, Section 11
and Article X, Section 6 (1) pertaining to the unconstitutionality of religious instruction in
public schools.

Executive Director Flynn provided corrections of the financial report.

Chair Schreiber thanked the Commission Members, the Director of Planning, and the
Board of Public Education staff for their work and support.

Adjourn
Meeting adjourned at - 15:16:35



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Montana Community Choice Schools Commission

Meeting Agenda
September 9, 2025
Zoom Webinar
8:00 a.m. to 12:15 p.m.

Estimated | Details
Time
Call to Order| 8:00 a.m. 1. Pledge of Allegiance
2. Roll Call
3. Statement of Public Participation
4. Welcome and Introduction of Visitors
Note to the 1. Action may be taken on any item listed on the Choice Commission agenda.
Public Per §2-3-103 MCA, the Choice Commission encourages public comment on
any item prior to final action.
2. All times are approximate and may change as reasonably necessary.
Agenda
Item 1 8:05 a.m. e Action: Consent Agenda Adoption
o Minutes from 6/17/2025
e Action: Agenda Adoption for 9/9/2025
Item 2 8:10 a.m. Chairperson Welcome Statement
Item 3 8:15 a.m. New Member Introductions: Chip Lindenlaub and Taylor Ramos
[tem 4 8:20 a.m. Reports:
1. Treasurer Report: Jon Rutt
2. Policymaking Special Committee: Jon Rutt
3. Special Education Consideration Committee: Katey Franklin
4. Fundraising Special Committee: Trish Schreiber
5. Chairperson Report: Trish Schreiber
6. Director of Planning Report: Cathy Kincheloe
Item 5 9:00 a.m. Presentation with Question and Answer: Epicenter Training, Stephanie McKean,
Epicenter Director of Operations, with the National Charter Schools Institute
[tem 6 9:45 a.m. Break
Item 7 10:00 a.m. Presentation with Question and Answer: National Association of Public Charter
School Authorizers (NACSA) Introduction with Jay Whalen, Director Authorizing
and School Quality, and Gina Post, Director of Fundraising and Business
Development
[tem 8 11:00 a.m. Discussions & Business:

1. Discussion: NACSA Membership
¢ Action: Should the Commission join NACSA as members?
2. Discussion: Roberts Rules Training
¢ Action: Should the Commission purchase Robert’s Rules of Order
Made Easy training?
3. Discussion: Legal Services
¢ Action: Should the Commission authorize the Director of Planning
and Board of Public Education’s Executive Director to negotiate a
contract for legal services?




MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Montana Community Choice Schools Commission

Meeting Agenda
September 9, 2025
Zoom Webinar
8:00 a.m. to 12:15 p.m.

Discussions & Business (continued):
4. Discussion: Conflict of Interest Policy
O Action: Conflict of Interest Policy
5. Discussion: Background Check Process
¢ Action: Background Check Process
6. Discussion: Member Handbook

Public 12:00 p.m. | This time will be provided for public comment on items not listed on the
Comment agenda. This meeting is open to the public electronically. For those wishing to
give virtual public comment, please contact
bpe@mt.gov to request the Zoom link for the meeting. Written public comment
may be submitted to the Executive Director of the BPE at bpe@mt.gov and will
be shared with the Commission members and included as part of the official
public record.
Adjourn 12:15 p.m.
Note to the **Agenda items are handled in the order listed on the approved agenda. [tems may
Public be rearranged unless listed “time certain.” Public comment is welcome on all items|

listed as “Action” and as noted at the end of each meeting.

**The Choice Commission will make reasonable accommodations for known
disabilities that may interfere with an individual’s ability to participate in the
meeting. Individuals who require such accommodations should make requests to
the Board of Public Education as soon as possible prior to the meeting start date.
You may write to: Kris Stockton, PO Box 200601, Helena MT, 59620, email at:

kmstockton@mt.gov or phone at 406-444-0302.




51010 Board of Public Education

Data Selected for Month/FY: 01 (Jul)/2023 through 02 (Aug)/2026

Revenue/Expenditure Comparison by Fund, Org

Subclass
08084 Community Choice Schools
235V3 CCS COMMISSION UNSP

Revenues Ex pen res Rev less Exp
327,500.00 120,094.22 207,405.78
27,500.00 7,612.25 19,887.75

Acct Lvl 2 Acct Lvl 1

27,500.00 7,612.25 19,887.75
27,500.00 0.00 27,500.00

20 Communitx Choice Schools

580000 Grants/Transfers/Misc

1580000 Grants/Transfers/Misc 27,500.00 0.00 27,500.00 }
62100 Other Services 0.00 2,601.50 (2,601.50)
162000 Operating Expenses 0.00 2,601.50 (2,601.50)1
62400 Travel 0.00 4,010.75 (4,010.75)
162000 Operating Expenses 0.00 4,010.75 (4,010.75):
62800 Other Expenses 0.00 1,000.00 (1,000.00)
162000 Operating Expenses 0.00 1,000.00 (1,000.00):
235V4 BRADLEY FOUNDATION 12/4/25 300,000.00 112,481.97 187,518.03
20 Community Choice Schools 300,000.00 111,298.38 188,701.62
580000 Grants/Transfers/Misc 300,000.00 0.00 300,000.00
1580000 Grants/Transfers/Misc 300,000.00 0.00 300,000.00
61100 Salaries 0.00 38,623.55 (38,623.55)
161000 Personal Services 0.00 38,623.55 (38,623.55)1
61400 Employee Benefits 0.00 13,129.32 (13,129.32)
161000 Personal Services 0.00 13,129.32 (13,129.32);
62100 Other Services 0.00 50,950.64 (50,950.64)
562000 Operating Expenses 0.00 50,950.64 (50,950.64)!
62200 Supplies & Materials 0.00 723.09 (723.09)
162000 Operating Expenses 0.00 723.09 (723.09)!
62300 Communications 0.00 1411.15 1411.15
162000 Operating Expenses 0.00 1411.15 (1411.15)
62400 Travel 0.00 5,525.21 (5,525.21)
162000 Operating Expenses 0.00 5,525.21 (5,525.21)1
62500 Rent 0.00 234.01 (234.01)
162000 Operating Expenses 0.00 234.01 (234.01)1
62800 Other Expenses 0.00 1,835.00 (1,835.00)
162000 Operating Expenses 0.00 1,835.00 (1,835.00):
(blank) 0.00
(blank) 0.00
(blank) 0.00
(blank) . 0.00]
Grand Total 327,500.00 120,094.22 207,405.78 I
REV-EXP by Fund,Org 1of 1



School Commlssm
Nacsa

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF
CHARTER SCHOOL AUTHORIZERS

AGENDA

September 2025

Jay Whalen Gina Post

Director of Authorizer & Director of Fundraising &

School Quality Business Development WhO iS NACSA?




WHO IS NACSA?

OUR MISSION

NACSA advances and strengthens the ideas and practices of
authorizing so students and communities—especially those
who are historically under-resourced—thrive.

WHAT WE BELIEVE
Our nation needs to provide better public schools to more
children by: @ nacsa

¢ Improving families’ access to quality schools

PRINCIPLES & STANDARDS

¢ Providing educators the autonomy they need for schools FOR QUALITY CHARTER SCHOOL AUTHORIZING

to excel 2023 EDITION

* Holding schools accountable for their performance

Principles §‘ Standards

HOW DOES NACSA STRENGTHEN AUTHORIZING?

» Authorizing is the quality control function of the charter school model.

* When done well, authorizing opens doors for children and protects the
public’s interests.

* Every charter school in the country has an authorizer. Because of that,
NACSA can significantly impact the entire charter community- particularly by
partnering and supporting authorizers like you- through training, practice
and policy development, system building and refinement, and evaluation.

WHY AUTHORIZING?

Great charter schools don’t just happen.

They are created through smart collaboration between
charter operators and charter authorizers.

NACSA focuses on authorizers - the legal entities that
decide who can start a new charter school, set academic
and operational expectations, and oversee school
performance.

WHAT ARE AUTHORIZERS RESPONSIBLE FOR?

- T
g E n n ""’N‘

Consequences
(including closure)
of poor performers

Accountability for
outcomes, not
processes

P . Protectin
Maintaining Upholding Student8g;
High Standards Autonomy Public Interest
ppllfowr][g Minimize Student well-being first and
applicants administrative foremost
School oversight burden

Ensure public education
obligations

Public transparency



NACSA Membership

Membership Benefits

Providing members with access to the people, programs, resources, and expertise needed to
advance great authorizing and quality schools. Prices are annual. Membership runs July 1 - June
30.

Discounts Exclusive Access

« Authorizing 101 e« Member only "ask an expert" email
« Member Newsletter

« Organizational partnerships

« Member only job board perks

« NACSACon

NACSA Membership

AuthoRISE AuthoRISE

) Wik/NAT

AuthoRISE is the only Learning
Portal dedicated to authorizer
learning and development on a
national level. It contains a growing
collection of over 75 resources,
templates, guides, toolkits, and
reports, and online modules
designed to inform and elevate the
work of authorizing.

PASSWORD

Forgot password?

SIGN IN




Consulting Work

Customized services to support authorizers in the field — aligned with local context, policy
and legal landscape, and alignment with best practices.

Focus Areas
® Authorizer Toolkit

o Tools, templates, and guidance documents for all stages of the charter school lifecycle to support best practices in charter
school oversight.

® New School Application & Ready to Open Supports
O Tools and processes and process management support

® Performance Frameworks
O Develop or strengthen academic, organizational, and financial performance frameworks
® Authorizer Professional Development
O Authorizing 101
O Custom professional development series
1 o O Leadership coaching
NACSA's Consulting Work o Authorizer For Hire
O Interim staffing to provide authorizer office expertise
® State-Specific Principles and Standards for Quality Authorizing
® Authorizer Evaluations

Our Clients

Consulting Work
Wyoming Charter School Authorizing Board 2024 - present

Organized and facilitated with board members and staff to identify
and codify a unified mission and vision and supported by providing
materials in advance to make the convening as efficient as possible
to meet its prescribed objectives, such as an array of authorizer
mission statements for review and discussion.

Managed WCSAB's first charter school application cycle, including board and staff
— training on the new school application process and application reviewer training.
W Recent Supported all aspects of the cycle: application reviews, capacity interviews, public
hearings, recommendation reports, and board meeting support. Developed key
resources and protocols to guide the application process. Result: Alpine Academy
approved to open Fall 2026.




Consulting Work Consulting Work

Wyoming Charter School Authorizing Board Continued Texas Education Agency 2019 - present A@
Texas Education Agency

Provided comprehensive support to the WCSAB and its new Executive Director through a Development and implementation of the Texas Authorizer Leadership Academy (TALA),
i_‘;::rs igf Czr;zrg:rt;o;s,’é\yg)r:r?;igps\‘/sy/c?rr;ir?:goéns%a%cl)iaschtggt;iaizflnesirzr‘zg fagltlat:ttiids“:/veith which since 2019 has helped 75 participants from over 31 school districts learn the
ging g P y gy g fundamentals of high-quality authorizing while equipping them with the tools, practices

the Executive Director and WDE liaison, and led a working session tailored to the new i ) ) ) ]
Executive Director’s needs. Delivered targeted trainings, including an Overview of and resources that help increase the number and variety of high-quality, bestfit school

Authorizing for School Leaders. options for students and families.

Creation of the TEA Authorizing Handbook, a comprehensive playbook with links to
templates and examplars, of authorizing best practices to be implemented throughout
the charter life cycle to help fulfill the “grand bargain” of chartering — autonomy in
exchange for accountability.

1l

Consu Iti ng WOI‘k W LEOtBSIANA DEXQ‘:iI';ENT ONF Wh ‘t | . ‘t “NACSA builds strong teams to support the specific
l . —4% ‘ ' a 0 u r C |e n S Sa " projects. They have a deep bench of knowledgeable
U c y. people. | have worked with many different individuals since
Louisiana Department of Education 2023 - present our first engagement, and they have all brought the skills,
» . . professionalism, and knowledge necessary to complete
NACSAhas been an mvalu_able panftner in projects at top quality and on-time.”
For the last 3 years, NACSA has designed and delivered the “Excellence in Authorizing” our journey to ensure high-quality
X L . X . educational options for students. Their
Workshop Series, a hybrid in-person and virtual workshop designed to bring together expertise in charter school authorizing,
authorizing staff from across the state to: coupled with their commitment to
accountability and best practices, is “NACSA has demonstrated an unparalleled
significantly strengthening our oversight understanding of charter school authorizing
® Establish a common level of understanding of the intricacies of authorizing among processes. Thanks to our collaboration with in New York State. They have not only trained
R . ) } NACSA, we are refining our authorizing our staff but have also provided essential
individuals with different backgrounds and prior knowledge L o e g O [P A fe Ao
portfolio of high-performing charter schools funding for key initiatives and connecting us with
RS that truly serve the needs of our community. thought leaders from other states. This has
° :
Develop 3 resource documents/templates annually for compilation into an o e RV Yy strengthened our ability to create a high-quality

Authorizer Handbook authorizer seeking to elevate their impact.” charter sector that ensures educational
opportunities for all students.”




New School

Application
Guidance Matters e ke e

A New Era for New School ’ - . mr application.
Applications .S Communities need more excellent PP

public schools, and new charter
e . s school applications are the first
S a 1 e step in bringing them to life.

The complexity of the process has a

direct impact on who applies and what

New School
n - kinds of applications are received.We
A p p | I Ca t I O n want to remove barriers, make this “the

right kind of hard,” and give authorizers

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF

CHARTER SCHOOL AUTHORIZERS

So, NACSA worked with

authorizers and other education
added more and more written leaders to revamp the tools

Over time, the application process has

We’ve made

bi h requirements, resulting in a sea of authorizers use.WVe:
|g C anges paperwork, rather than a way for school e Focused o.n the elements authorizers need
t NACSA, most at this stage and cut unnecessary
o S founders to demonstrate their vision, requirements.
New School plan, and capacities.The result is a sector Reduced the number of written prompts
= = . by more than 50%.
Apphca‘hon that has become more bureaucratic, Y >

- more rigid. and less innovative—the Moved many attachments into the Ready
G“ldance- gld, To Open process.

opposite of what charter schools are

meant to be. Outlined multiple ways to better assess a
founding team’s capacities.




Shift rigor from

paper to

people
We're prioritizing personal touchpoints
in assessing the founding team’s ability
to execute and adapt.We include sample
interview prompts and performance

tasks to better gauge a team’s capacities.

3 Better assess need

D2 and demand by
centering
communities

Charter schools can offer diverse, community- driven
education that meets the needs of families.
Authorizers play a key role by building strong
community relationships and setting the example of
what's possible. A quality

new school application process helps ensure schools

meet the needs and aspirations of the community.

Align the

application

process to how

new schools

actually develop
Think about what’s most appropriate for the
application at this initial review stage, while aligning
to state requirements. Consider what evidence you

can gather during performance tasks, capacity

interviews, or the Ready to Open (RTO) process.

Strengthen and

1 reinforce established
quality authorizing

practices

Continue to use existing key practices like having

strong review teams and publishing an RFPWe're
building on those foundations and adding timeline
and process guidance as well as editable tools
including: a notice of intent, statement of

assurances, and written application prompts.




Request for Proposals (RFP)
Information/Orientation Sessions
Notice/Letter of Intent

Pitch Meeting/One-on-One Session
Full Written Application

Completion Check and Remedy
Review of Written Proposal

Due Diligence

Request for Clarifications

Challenge Scenarios

Founding Team & Community in Action
Capacity Interview

Public Hearing What Next?
Update Memorandum
Recommendation/Decision

New School
Application
Touchpoints

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

e T e =
S S

a Home iz i
R e S om Rates Schedule Authorizing 101 Speakers FAQs Re ister
CHARTER SCHOOL AUTHORIZERS
— nacsa
AUTHORIZING 101 Register

Authorizing 101 Pre-Conference Workshop (2025)

Event Title: Authorizing 101 Pre-Conference Workshop (2025)
Date & Time: Monday, October 20, 12:30 - 4:30 p.m. CST
Location: Westin Galleria Houston (5060 W Alabama Street, Houston, TX 77056)

4 b Member Rate: $135
: Non-Member Rate: $165
- \ Maximize your NACSACon experience from day one.

Whether you're just stepping into the world of authorizing, work in a related field, or serve on a school board and want to deepen your understanding—NACSA's Authorizing 101 workshop is made for you.

= g ) £ This workshop blends flexible online learning with hands-on, scenario-based activities during a special in-person session held before our official NACSACon kickoff. Complete self-paced pre-work to build your foundational knowledge,

then come together with other new and novice professionals to apply your learning in real-world scenarios guided by NACSA experts.

Time Commitment: 8.5 hours*

Completion of 5 online modules before Monday, October 20 - 2.5 hours

Review of a sample charter school application and renewal scenario before Monday, October 20 - 2 hours

In-person session attendance at Westin Galleria Houston on Monday, October 20th from 12:30 p.m. to 4:30 p.m. Central Time- 4 hours

WHERE WHEN

THE WESTIN GALLERIA HOUSTON OCTOBER 20-23, 2025
5060 W ALABAMA STREET HOUSTON,
NACSACON 2025 TX 77056 Add to Calendar:

Book Now




B jayw@qualitycharters.org

B ginap@qualitycharters.org

Questions? THANK YOU




MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Conflict of Interest

The Community Choice Schools Commission acts in accordance with the Montana Code Annotated Title
2 Chapter 2: Standards of Conduct in whole and specifically as it pertains to the work of the Commission
as outlined in the sections below.

2-2-101. Statement of Purpose. The purpose of this part is to set forth a code of ethics prohibiting
conflict between public duty and private interest as required by the constitution of Montana. This code
recognizes distinctions between judges, legislators, judicial officers, other officers and employees of state
government, and officers and employees of local government and prescribes some standards of conduct
common to all categories and some standards of conduct adapted to each category. The provisions of
this part recognize that some actions are conflicts per se between public duty and private interest while
other actions may or may not pose such conflicts depending upon the surrounding circumstances.

2-2-102. Definitions. As used in this part, the following definitions apply to the Community Choice
Schools Commission:

(8) "Public employee" means:

(c) a member of a quasi-judicial board or commission or of a board, commission, or committee with
rulemaking authority;

2-15-102(10) "Quasi-judicial function" means an adjudicatory function exercised by an agency, involving
the exercise of judgment and discretion in making determinations in controversies. The term includes
but is not limited to the functions of:

(a) interpreting, applying, and enforcing existing rules and laws;

2-2-103. Public trust -- Public Duty.

(1) The holding of public office or employment is a public trust, created by the confidence that the
electorate reposes in the integrity of public officers, legislators, and public employees. A public officer,
legislator, or public employee shall carry out the individual's duties for the benefit of the people of the
state.

(2) A public officer, legislator, or public employee whose conduct departs from the person's public duty
is liable to the people of the state and is subject to the penalties provided in this part for abuse of the
public's trust.

(3) This part sets forth various rules of conduct, the transgression of any of which is a violation of public
duty, and various ethical principles, the transgression of any of which must be avoided.

2-2-104. Rules of conduct for public officers, legislators, and public employees.

(1) Proof of commission of any act enumerated in this section is proof that the actor has breached the
actor's public duty. A public officer, legislator, or public employee may not:

(a) disclose or use confidential information acquired in the course of official duties in order to further
substantially the individual's personal economic interests; or

(b) accept a gift of substantial value or a substantial economic benefit tantamount to a gift:

(i) that would tend improperly to influence a reasonable person in the person's position to depart from
the faithful and impartial discharge of the person's public duties; or

(i) that the person knows or that a reasonable person in that position should know under the
circumstances is primarily for the purpose of rewarding the person for official action taken.



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Conflict of Interest

2-2-105. Ethical Requirements for Public Officers and Public Employees.

(1) The requirements in this section are intended as rules of conduct, and violations constitute a breach
of the public trust and public duty of office or employment in state or local government.

(2) Except as provided in subsection (4), a public officer or public employee may not acquire an interest
in any business or undertaking that the officer or employee has reason to believe may be directly and
substantially affected to its economic benefit by official action to be taken by the officer's or employee's
agency.

(3) A public officer or public employee may not, within 12 months following the voluntary termination of
office or employment, obtain employment in which the officer or employee will take direct advantage,
unavailable to others, of matters with which the officer or employee was directly involved during a term
of office or during employment. These matters are rules, other than rules of general application, that the
officer or employee actively helped to formulate and applications, claims, or contested cases in the
consideration of which the officer or employee was an active participant.

(4) When a public employee who is a member of a quasi-judicial board or commission or of a board,
commission, or committee with rulemaking authority is required to take official action on a matter as to
which the public employee has a conflict created by a personal or private interest that would directly
give rise to an appearance of impropriety as to the public employee's influence, benefit, or detriment in
regard to the matter, the public employee shall disclose the interest creating the conflict prior to
participating in the official action.

(5) A public officer or public employee may not perform an official act directly and substantially affecting
a business or other undertaking to its economic detriment when the officer or employee has a
substantial personal interest in a competing firm or undertaking.

Ethical Requirements Adopted by the Community Choice Schools Commission

(1) A Member may not hold a paid position with a Choice School or any entity in which the Choice School
holds a contract for services.

(2) A Member voluntarily leaving the Commission may not obtain employment that would not be
available to others with a Choice School or Authorizer in which the member was involved in approving a
contract within 12 months of leaving the Commission. This also applies to any entities in which the
member has approved a contract for services directly with the Commission.

(3) A Member who is an employee or governing board member of a Choice School or Authorizer, has a
relative who serves as an employee or governing board member at a Choice School or Authorizer,
including a child enrolled in or seeking enrollment in a Choice School, has a direct financial interest in a
company that may profit from a Choice School or Authorizer, the Member shall disclose the interest prior
to participating in a vote to approve or deny a charter or authorizer contract. This also applies to any
entities seeking to contract directly with the Commission.

(4) A Member who is an employee or governing board member of a Choice School or Authorizer, has a
relative who serves as an employee or governing board member at a Choice School or Authorizer,
including a child enrolled in or seeking enrollment in a Choice School, has a direct financial interest in a
company that may profit from a Choice School or Authorizer, the Member shall recuse themselves from
voting on any contract approvals and renewals including Choice Schools, Authorizers, or contracts for
service directly with the Commission.



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Conflict of Interest

Procedures Adopted by the Community Choice Schools Commission

(1) Duty to Disclose

(a) In connection with any actual or possible conflict of interest, an interested Member must disclose the
existence of the interest in a public Commission meeting and be given the opportunity to disclose all
material facts to the Commission considering the proposed transaction or arrangement.

(b) At this time the Member may voluntarily recuse him or herself from any discussion and/or
subsequent Commission vote regarding the subject of the potential conflict of interest.

(c) If there is need of further determination whether a conflict exists, after disclosure of the interest and
all material facts, and after any discussion with the interested Member, he/she shall leave the
Commission meeting while the determination of a conflict of interest is discussed and voted upon. The
remaining Commission Members shall decide if a conflict of interest exists.

(2) Violations of the Conflicts of Interest Policy

(a) If the Commission has reasonable cause to believe a Member has failed to disclose actual or possible
conflicts of interest, it shall inform the Member of the basis for such belief and afford the Member an
opportunity to explain the alleged failure to disclose.

(3) Enforcement

(a) If, after hearing the Member’s response and after making further investigation as warranted by the
circumstances, the Commission determines by majority vote the Member has failed to disclose an actual
or possible conflict of interest, it shall take appropriate disciplinary and corrective action as pursuant to
2-2-136. Enforcement for judicial officers, state officers, legislators, and state employees -- referral of
complaint involving county attorney.

Annual Statement
Each Commission Member shall receive a copy of this policy on an annual basis and affirm in a public
meeting of the Commission for public record that such Member:

1) Has received a copy of the conflicts of interest policy,

2) Has read and understands the policy, and

3) Has agreed to comply with the policy.



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Community Choice Schools Criminal Background Check Policy

The Montana Community Choice Schools Commission, in cooperation with the Administrative Rule of
Montana 10.57.201A CRIMINAL HISTORY BACKGROUND CHECK and the National Child Protection Act of
1993, requires all Community Choice School applicants adhere to the following criminal background
checks procedures.

The National Child Protection Act of 1993, as amended, (codified at 42 United States Code sections
5119a and 5119c) (the "Act") authorizes a state and national criminal history background check to
determine the fitness of an employee, volunteer, or other person with unsupervised access to children,
the elderly, or individuals with disabilities. The purpose of this policy is to support the Community Choice
Schools Commission’s duty to determine whether governing board members, founders, and staff have
been convicted of a crime that bears upon the applicant's fitness related to the safety and wellbeing of
children.

Directions to Community Choice School (CCS) Applicants

1. Each of the following persons involved or known to be involved in the CCS Application shall
provide to the Montana Department of Justice information and material sufficient to obtain a
fingerprint-based national criminal history background check:

a. all proposed governing board members,
b. all proposed founders, and
c. all proposed staff members.

2. Toinitiate the criminal history background check process, the applicant must submit a set of
fingerprints on the appropriate form to the Montana Department of Justice. Criminal
background checks submitted for other purposes will not be acceptable. See Directions for
Obtaining a Criminal Background Check attached to this policy.

3. The applicant shall bear the costs of the background check.

4. Each of the following: governing board members; founders; and staff members involved in the
CCS Application shall submit to the Community Choice Schools Commission with their CCS
Application the results of each applicant’s criminal history background check.

5. A CCS Application shall not be considered complete until the background check results for each
of the governing board members, founders, and any staff members involved in the Application
are received by the Commission.

6. The Community Choice Schools Commission shall make a determination on an individual basis
whether each person included in the CCS Application have been convicted of, or is under
pending indictment for, a crime that bears upon the applicant's fitness related to the safety and
well-being of children.

7. Conviction, including conviction following a plea of nolo contendere, a conviction in which the
sentence is suspended or deferred, or any other adjudication treated by the court as a



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Community Choice Schools Criminal Background Check Policy

conviction, may be considered by the Community Choice Schools Commission if the conviction
was for a sexual offense, a crime involving violence, the sale of drugs, theft, or any other offense
related to public health, welfare, and safety as it applies to the safety and welfare of children.

8. The Community Choice Schools Commission will not publicly post the results of any background
checks. Each applicant who is the subject of a criminal history background check is entitled to
receive a copy of the report from the Community Choice Schools Commission with the
appropriate identification and signed release. The applicant may challenge the accuracy and
completeness of any information contained in any such report through the Montana
Department of Justice procedures.

Directions for Obtaining a Criminal History Background Check
NOTE: Applicants should allow at least 15 business days for receipt and processing of background
check results, so please plan ahead.

How to Initiate Your Fingerprint Background Check Per FBI regulations

Fingerprints must be clear. Smudged or unclear prints will be rejected by the FBI. Therefore, it is
recommended that you complete and submit two fingerprint cards, to ensure that your background
check can be completed in a timely manner.

Instructions

1. Go to your local law enforcement agency or any other agency offering fingerprinting services. Request
that your fingerprints be taken for a background check. Remember to have two fingerprint cards
completed. A fee is charged for fingerprinting, this fee may vary depending upon the agency.

2. Fill out the appropriate section on the fingerprint cards with your personal information.
3. Complete all sections on the fingerprint cards.
4. Do not fold the completed fingerprint cards.
5. Mail the completed fingerprint cards along with a check payable to the Montana Department of
Justice for their processing fee of $30.00.
Mail to:

Montana Department of Justice Criminal Records & Identification Services
PO Box 201403 Helena, MT 59620-1403



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Commission Member Handbook

2025



Table of Contents

1. Legislative Findings and INteNnt ...
2. Vision, Purpose, and Values ...ttt e
3. Organizational Structure e
4. Member Contact List e
5. Subcommittees & Members ...
6. Meeting Dates & LOCAtIONS .oooeioiiiieccccce e ettt e
7. Application & Renewal Cycles Timeline  ...ccooviieieeiecie e,
8. BYIAWS e e et enes
9. Conflict of Interest e
10. Montana Open Meetings LaW .....ooooveiiiiiiciie et e

11. ReimbursemMent FOMMS oottt e e e e eseseee e e eeeeens



Legislative Findings and Intent
Full Law: Community Choice Schools Act

20-11-102. Community choice schools -- legislative findings and intent. (1) The legislature
finds, pursuant to the authority and duties provided in Article X, section 1(3), of the Montana
constitution, that:

(a) parents desire education options for their children;

(b) expanding educational opportunities for K-12 education within the state is a valid public
purpose; and

(c) creating options that empower parents, encourage students to develop their full
educational potential, provide a variety of professional opportunities for teachers, and
encourage educational entrepreneurship is vital to the economic competitiveness of the
state.

(2) Itis the legislature's intent, pursuant to the authority and duties provided in Article X, section 1(3),
of the Montana constitution, to create other public educational programs and institutions through
choice schools. The purposes are to:

(a) enable parents to make decisions on how best to educate their children;

(b) provide other public educational opportunities for all students, especially those at risk of
academic failure or academic disengagement;

(c) encourage the use of different models of teaching, governing, scheduling, and providing
instruction to meet a wide variety of student and community needs; and

(d) advance Montana's commitment to the preservation of American Indian cultural identity,
pursuant to Article X, section 1(2), of the Montana constitution, and to eliminate the American
Indian achievement gap by encouraging participation in the choice school program by
students, parents, and school districts in Indian country.


https://archive.legmt.gov/bills/mca/title_0200/chapter_0110/part_0010/sections_index.html

MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Vision, Purpose and Values

The vision of the Commission is to develop the full educational potential of each student by fostering a
diverse and dynamic public education landscape.

The Commission has two primary purposes:

1. To authorize, oversee, and hold accountable public community choice schools for
fulfilling the terms of their contracts.

2. To approve, oversee, and evaluate the effectiveness of public community choice school
authorizers.

Commission Values (TBD Fall 2025)



COMMUNITY CHOICE SCHOOLS COMMISSION
ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION

General Supervision and Allocation for Administrative Purposes
2-15-121(2) The department to which an agency is allocated for administrative purposes only in this title shall:
(a) direct and supervise the budgeting, recordkeeping, reporting, and related administrative and clerical functions of the agency;
(b) include the agency's budgetary requests in the departmental budget;
(c) collect all revenues for the agency and deposit them in the proper fund or account. Except as provided in 37-1-101, the department may not use or divert the revenues from
the fund or account for purposes other than provided by law.
(d) provide staff for the agency. Unless otherwise indicated in this chapter, the agency may not hire its own personnel. Per 20-11-106 (9) The commission may hire staff.
(e) print and disseminate for the agency any required notices, rules, or orders adopted, amended, or repealed by the agency.
20-11-106. Community choice school commission -- appointments.
(1) There is an autonomous state community choice school commission with statewide authorizing jurisdiction and authority. The commission is attached to the Board of Public
Education for administrative purposes, as prescribed in 2-15-121(2), except as provided in this section, and is under the general supervision of the Board of Public Education as
set forth in this section.

BPE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR McCall Flynn

COMMUNITY CHOICE SCHOOLS COMMISSION

20-11-106. Community choice school commission -- appointments. (2) The commission is responsible for approving authorizers for choice schools throughout the state. (3) The
commission consists of seven members who are appointed as follows: (a) two members appointed by the governor; (b) one member appointed by the superintendent of public
instruction; (c) one member appointed by the president of the senate; (d) one member appointed by the speaker of the house; (e) one member appointed by the minority leader
of the senate; and (f) one member appointed by the minority leader of the house of representatives. (4) Members appointed to the commission must collectively possess
substantial experience and expertise in board governance, business, finance, education, management, and philanthropy. All members of the commission must have a
demonstrated understanding of and commitment to choice schools as a strategy for strengthening public education.

Trish Schreiber Jon Rutt - . Katy Wright
COMMISSIONERS (Chair) Taylor Ramos (Treasdlir) Chip Lindenlaub Dr. Katey Franklin Mark Hufstetler (Vice Chair)
APPOINTING Governor Governor Superintendent of Senate President Senate Minority Speaker House Minority
OFFICIALS Public Instruction Leader of the House Leader

DIRECTOR OF PLANNING Cathy Kincheloe

OFFICE OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION

Funding of Choice Schools

20-11-124(2)(a) By March 1, prior to a choice school's first year of operation, the authorizer shall provide an estimate of a choice school's enrollment broken down by resident
school districts to the Superintendent of Public Instruction for review and possible adjustment.

20-11-124(2)(b) Not later than February 1, the authorizer of the choice school shall determine the choice school's need for a basic entitlement, communicate to the
Superintendent of Public Instruction the percentage to be included in the located school district's general fund budget for the ensuing school fiscal year.




MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Commission Members

8/31/27 Trish Schreiber (Chairperson) 2047 Last Chance Gulch #175
Trish.Commish@gmail.com Helena, MT 59601
8/31/26 Katy Wright (Vice Chair) 510 State Street
Wright.SchoolCommission@gmail.com Helena, MT 59601
8/31/26 Jon Rutt (Treasurer) 1231 1st Avenue
Jruttsl@gmail.com Laurel, MT 59044
8/31/28 Mark Hufstetler 432 E Idaho St C-210
mark@northernplastics.com Kalispell, MT 59901
8/31/26 Katey Franklin P.O. Box 971
Katey.franklin@gmail.com Bozeman, MT 59771
8/31/28 Chip Lindenlaub P.O. Box 154
montanafish@icloud.com Conner, MT 59827
8/31/27 Taylor Ramos 10400 US Highway 10 E

taylorramosmt@gmail.com

Missoula MT 59802

Commission Staff

159 Glades Crescent
Whitefish, MT 59937

Director of Planning Cathy Kincheloe

cathy.kincheloe@mt.gov

C 406-422-9693
H 406-793-5638

C 406-475-2931
W 406-324-1539

C 406-861-7169

H 406-628-7507

C 406-694-1800

C 406-570-6056

C 406-370-2108

C 701-440-0526

C 406-407-0727



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Commission Committees and Members
(Committee purpose and membership shall be revisited annually at the Commission’s December meeting)

Commission Bylaws Article VII. Committees
An Executive Committee composed of the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and Treasurer. The duties of
the Executive Committee shall include facilitation of decision making between board meetings or in
urgent and crisis circumstances. The Executive Committee shall also act as the communication link to any
employees or vendors and shall perform performance evaluations of any hired staff.

Executive Committee Members
e Trish Schreiber, Chair

e Katy Wright, Vice Chair
e Jon Rutt, Treasurer

Commission Bylaws Article VII. Committees
The Choice Commission may create special committees as deemed necessary to carry out the
responsibilities of its work. The Choice Commission shall prescribe the duties, duration, and scope of
work of any special committees. Members of the special committees shall be appointed by the
Chairperson.

Fundraising Sub-Committee Members
® Trish Schreiber
e Jon Rutt

Policymaking Sub-Committee Members
e Trish Schreiber
e Jon Rutt

Special Education Consideration Sub-Committee Members
e Trish Schreiber
e Katey Franklin



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

2025 Commission Meeting Dates and Locations
January 14, 2025 Special Meeting Zoom
March 4, 2025 Zoom
June 17, 2025 Helena, MT
September 9, 2025 Zoom
October 10- 11, 2025 Fall Advance (retreat) Helena, MT

December 9, 2025 Helena, MT



State of Montana PO Box 2002601
Helena, Montana 59620
(406) 444-6576
www.bpe.mt.gov

Montana Community Choice Schools Commission

Application Review and Approval Process Policy for Initial Community Choice
Schools Applications

(Irrelevant to the renewal process of existing charter contracts.)

February
1. The Montana Community Choice School Application will be issued and posted by February 15" of each
year on the Board of Public Education’s website under the Community Choice Schools tab. The
application will be broadly publicized statewide.

May
2. Applications can be submitted to the Montana Community Choice School Commission (Commission) on
(XX/XX/XX--date) during the first week of May at 5:00 p.m. The precise due date will be announced
yearly by February 15™. All Applications will be submitted electronically.

3. The Commission will notify each applicant by email upon receipt of the Application.

4. Each Community Choice School Application will be published on the Board of Public Education’s
website under the Community Choice Schools tab, allowing the public to read through each
Application before the Commission takes action.

5. Each Application must pass a sufficiency review conducted by the Commission’s Application
Subcommittee. Any insufficient Applications will be identified within 3 business days of receipt,
and the applicants will have the opportunity to remedy the insufficient status within 3 business
days.

6. The Commission will thoroughly evaluate each complete Application and schedule an interview, in-person
or by webinar, with each applicant team including but not limited to: Governing Board, Charter
Management Organization, Education Service Provider, proposed school leader or legal counsel. These
interviews will also be open to the public and provide local residents, along with all members of the
public, the opportunity to provide input on each complete Application before Applications are
considered for approval or denial by the Commission.

7. The Commission will evaluate each complete Application and interview based on the Community
Choice Schools Application Evaluation Criteria, a policy that will guide the Commission’s decision
to approve or deny a choice school Application.

July
8. Within 45 business days of the Application deadline, the Commission will send a condensed packet of a

review of each Application to the Montana Board of Public Education’s Charter Committee for
presentation at the Board’s regularly scheduled July meeting. The Board Charter Committee will have 15
calendar days to review the information, share it with the full Board, and provide the Commission with
input e.g., questions or concerns to inform the Commission’s final communications with the applicants
before the Commission convenes for action. These 45 business days may be extended and adjusted with
the Board of Public Education if the Commission receives more than three Applications.



State of Montana PO Box 2002601
Helena, Montana 59620
(406) 444-6576
www.bpe.mt.gov

Montana Community Choice Schools Commission

Application Review and Approval Process Policy for Initial Community Choice
Schools Applications

(Irrelevant to the renewal process of existing charter contracts.)

July (cont)

9. The Commission will convene within 60 business days of the Application deadline. This timeframe may
extend to 120 business days if more than 3 Applications have been received. Each Application will be
deliberated individually in an open meeting. The Board’s Charter Committee members, the Chair of the
Board, or the Board’s Executive Director may join the Commission in formal deliberations about each

Application.

September
10. Approved Applications will advance to the contracting stage. Contracts will be signed within 45

business days of approval, provided the applicant agrees to the terms of the Commission’s
proposed contract.

11. Denied Applications will be provided with a written explanation as to why their application was denied,
and applicants may re-apply in the next Application Cycle or any future Application Cycles.

This Application Cycle is for Community Choice Schools opening not before (XX—date).



STATE OF MONTANA
COMMUNITY CHOICE SCHOOLS COMMISSION

BYLAWS
Article I. Name

The legal name of the Commission is the Community Choice Schools Commission (“Choice
Commission”).

Article Il. Objective

The objective of the Commission is to carry out its statutory responsibilities under the Community
Choice Schools Act, 20-11-101 et seq., MCA, including performing the functions of a community
choice school authorizer and authorizing other authorizers (20-11-105 and 106, MCA) and
overseeing the performance and effectiveness of all other authorizers established in the state (20-
11-107, MCA). The overall goal of the Choice Commission is to foster other public educational
institutions open to all K-12 students, especially to those students at risk of academic failure or
academic disengagement and to advance Montana’s commitment to the preservation of American
Indian cultural identity. The Choice Commission is an autonomous entity and operates under the
general supervision of the Board of Public Education in accordance with 20-11-104, MCA.

Article Ill. Membership

A. The Choice Commission consists of seven members. Per 20-11-104, MCA two members are
appointed by the Governor, one member by the State Superintendent of Public Instruction, one
member by the Senate President, one member by the Senate Minority Leader, one member by
the Speaker of the House, and one member by the House Minority Leader. Members of the
Choice Commission must collectively possess substantial experience and expertise in board
governance, business, finance, education, management, and philanthropy. All members of the
Choice Commission must have a demonstrated understanding of and commitment to Choice
Schools as a strategy for strengthening public education.

B. The Choice Commission members will serve staggered three-year terms to ensure the orderly
succession of officers and members. To initiate staggering, the terms of initial members are as
prescribed at 20-11-104, MCA.

C. When a vacancy occurs, the appointing authority of the vacant seat shall appoint a new member
for the remainder of the term of the incumbent.

D. If any appointing authority fails to make an appointment within 60 days of the expiration of a
term or the occurrence of a vacancy, the remaining appointing authorities may make the
appointment (20-11-104, MCA). Members appointed to the Choice Commission, before
discharging their duties, shall take and subscribe to the constitutional oath of office.

E. A member of the Choice Commission may be removed by a majority vote of the Commission for
any cause that renders the member unable or unfit to discharge the duties of the office, as



prescribed at 10-11-104(7), MCA.

F. The Choice Commission shall establish a conflict-of-interest policy. If a member of the Choice
Commission has a conflict of interest regarding a matter that comes before the Commission, the
member shall recuse himself or herself from the Commission’s deliberations and voting on the
matter.

Article IV. Officers

A. The officers of the Choice Commission shall consist of a Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and
Treasurer. The officers must be members of the Choice Commission.

B. The initial presiding officer, the Chairperson, shall be designated by the governor for a two year
period (20-11-104(5)). The other officers shall be elected to serve a term of one year. Officers
may serve up to three consecutive terms. After the Chairperson’s initial two-year term,
subsequent Chairpersons shall be elected for a term of one year. Elections of the officers shall be
conducted by voice vote or roll call. The Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and Treasurer elect shall
assume their respective offices upon adjournment of the meeting at which they were elected.

C. If an office is vacated prior to the expiration of the term, the Choice Commission will hold an
election to fill the vacated office. The newly elected officer will serve for the remainder of the
unexpired term.

D. The duties of the Chairperson shall include presiding at meetings, participation in the construction
of meeting agendas and appointing all committees. The Chairperson may vote on all matters and
may make motions. In the absence of the Chairperson, the Vice Chairperson shall preside and
shall perform such duties as are prescribed for the Chairperson.

E. The duties of the Vice Chairperson shall include substituting for the Chairperson as needed and
carrying out additional leadership duties related to the functioning, responsibilities, and
effectiveness of the Commission.

F. The duties of the Treasurer shall include acting as the general liaison for the Choice Commission in
working with other agencies and support staff on matters regarding budget planning, financial
reporting, record-keeping, and managing incoming and outgoing funds.

Article V. Meetings

A. The Choice Commission shall meet at least quarterly. Special meetings may be called by the
Governor, the Chairperson of the Board of Public Education, the Chairperson of the Choice
Commission, or by a written request to the Chairperson submitted by four members. The

purpose of a special meeting must be described in any call or request for a meeting.

B. At the discretion of the Chairperson, meetings may be conducted in-person or electronically,
including by telephone or by using an internet meeting service.

C. The Chairperson shall notify each member either by email, by mail or by telephone sufficiently in

10



advance of any regular or special meetings of the Choice Commission to allow all members to
arrange for travel or for electronic means of attendance. The purpose of any special meeting
shall be provided with notice of the meeting.

D. Meetings of the Commission shall be open to the public in accordance with Montana law. The
Chairperson may close the meeting to the public in accordance with Montana law if he or she
determines:

1. That the demand of individual privacy clearly exceeds the merits of public disclosure, or
2. That an open meeting would have a detrimental effect on the bargaining or the litigating
position of the Commission.

The Chairperson shall briefly state the reason for the closing.
Article VI. Quorum; Voting

A majority of the members of the Choice Commission shall constitute a quorum for the transaction
of business. A vote of a majority of members present and casting a vote is required to approve any
action of the Choice Commission.

Article VII. Committees
A. Standing Committees shall be as follows:

1. An Executive Committee composed of the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and Treasurer. The
duties of the Executive Committee shall include facilitation of decision making between
board meetings or in urgent and crisis circumstances. The Executive Committee shall also act
as the communication link to any employees or vendors and shall perform performance
evaluations of any hired staff.

B. The Choice Commission may create special committees as deemed necessary to carry out the
responsibilities of its work. The Choice Commission shall prescribe the duties, duration, and
scope of work of any special committees. Members of the special committees shall be appointed
by the Chairperson.

C. Committee meetings may be scheduled and held as necessary to execute committee assignments.

D. Committees may not take action on behalf of the Choice Commission. Committees shall review,
report on, and make recommendations concerning any item referred to them and alert the
Chairperson on any matters which should be placed on the agenda for Choice Commission
discussion or action.

E. Upon request of the Board of Public Education, the Chairperson of the Commission may appoint a
designated member of the Board to contribute on special committees of the Choice
Commission.

1"



Article VIII. Order of Business
The regular order of business shall be as follows:

. Call to Order

. Pledge of Allegiance

. Roll Call

. Statement of Public Participation
. Welcome Visitors

. Items Pulled from Consent Agenda
. Consent Agenda Adoption

. Agenda Adoption

. Agenda

10. Public Comment

11. Date and Place of Next Meeting
12. Adjournment

OCoOoONOODULID WN B

Article IX. Communications

All official communications should come to the attention of the Commission through the
Chairperson. The Chairperson shall serve as the official spokesperson for the Choice Commission.

Article X. Parliamentary Procedure

The Commission will use Robert’s Rules of Order as a guide on questions of parliamentary
procedure to the extent those Rules are not inconsistent with these bylaws.

Article XI. Amendments

These bylaws may be added to or amended by a majority vote at any meeting of the Choice
Commission provided that a quorum is present and provided that the proposed amendment is sent
in writing to members of the Commission at least seven days in advance.

Article XII. Professional Development

The Choice Commission may offer professional development opportunities for Commission
members, subject to funding. Members may attend at least one professional development
conference each year when funding is available. All requests must be submitted to the Chairperson
and Treasurer at least one month prior to the conference on a form developed by the Choice
Commission. All requests shall be considered by and subject to approval of the Executive Committee
based upon criteria developed by the Executive Committee and approved by the Choice
Commission.

Article XIIl. Member Compensation and Expense Reimbursement

A. Members shall not receive compensation for serving on the Choice Commission.

12



B. Subject to funding, members shall be entitled to reimbursement of travel expenses as provided
for in 2-18-501 through 2-18-503, MCA. Members shall submit requests for travel expenses to
the Treasurer on a form developed and approved by the Choice Commission. If funding is
available and the Treasurer determines that the travel expense reimbursement is adequately
documented and allowable under 2-18-501 through 2-18-503, MCA, the Treasurer shall
authorize reimbursement.

C. Subject to funding, members may receive reimbursement for other expenses incurred by them in
performance of their duties and responsibilities as a member of the Choice Commission under
criteria and procedures developed and approved by the Choice Commission.

13



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Conflict of Interest

The Community Choice Schools Commission acts in accordance with the Montana Code Annotated Title
2 chapter 2: Standards of Conduct in whole and specifically as it pertains to the work of the Commission
as outlined in the sections below.

2-2-101. Statement of Purpose. The purpose of this part is to set forth a code of ethics prohibiting
conflict between public duty and private interest as required by the constitution of Montana. This code
recognizes distinctions between judges, legislators, judicial officers, other officers and employees of state
government, and officers and employees of local government and prescribes some standards of conduct
common to all categories and some standards of conduct adapted to each category. The provisions of
this part recognize that some actions are conflicts per se between public duty and private interest while
other actions may or may not pose such conflicts depending upon the surrounding circumstances.

2-2-102. Definitions. As used in this part, the following definitions apply to the Community Choice
Schools Commission:

(8) "Public employee" means:

(c) a member of a quasi-judicial board or commission or of a board, commission, or committee with
rulemaking authority;

2-15-102(10) "Quasi-judicial function" means an adjudicatory function exercised by an agency, involving
the exercise of judgment and discretion in making determinations in controversies. The term includes
but is not limited to the functions of:

(a) interpreting, applying, and enforcing existing rules and laws;

2-2-103. Public trust -- Public Duty.

(1) The holding of public office or employment is a public trust, created by the confidence that the
electorate reposes in the integrity of public officers, legislators, and public employees. A public officer,
legislator, or public employee shall carry out the individual's duties for the benefit of the people of the
state.

(2) A public officer, legislator, or public employee whose conduct departs from the person's public duty
is liable to the people of the state and is subject to the penalties provided in this part for abuse of the
public's trust.

(3) This part sets forth various rules of conduct, the transgression of any of which is a violation of public
duty, and various ethical principles, the transgression of any of which must be avoided.

2-2-104. Rules of conduct for public officers, legislators, and public employees.

(1) Proof of commission of any act enumerated in this section is proof that the actor has breached the
actor's public duty. A public officer, legislator, or public employee may not:

(a) disclose or use confidential information acquired in the course of official duties in order to further
substantially the individual's personal economic interests; or

(b) accept a gift of substantial value or a substantial economic benefit tantamount to a gift:

(i) that would tend improperly to influence a reasonable person in the person's position to depart from
the faithful and impartial discharge of the person's public duties; or

(ii) that the person knows or that a reasonable person in that position should know under the
circumstances is primarily for the purpose of rewarding the person for official action taken.

14



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Conflict of Interest

2-2-105. Ethical Requirements for Public Officers and Public Employees.

(1) The requirements in this section are intended as rules of conduct, and violations constitute a breach
of the public trust and public duty of office or employment in state or local government.

(2) Except as provided in subsection (4), a public officer or public employee may not acquire an interest
in any business or undertaking that the officer or employee has reason to believe may be directly and
substantially affected to its economic benefit by official action to be taken by the officer's or employee's
agency.

(3) A public officer or public employee may not, within 12 months following the voluntary termination of
office or employment, obtain employment in which the officer or employee will take direct advantage,
unavailable to others, of matters with which the officer or employee was directly involved during a term
of office or during employment. These matters are rules, other than rules of general application, that the
officer or employee actively helped to formulate and applications, claims, or contested cases in the
consideration of which the officer or employee was an active participant.

(4) When a public employee who is a member of a quasi-judicial board or commission or of a board,
commission, or committee with rulemaking authority is required to take official action on a matter as to
which the public employee has a conflict created by a personal or private interest that would directly
give rise to an appearance of impropriety as to the public employee's influence, benefit, or detriment in
regard to the matter, the public employee shall disclose the interest creating the conflict prior to
participating in the official action.

(5) A public officer or public employee may not perform an official act directly and substantially affecting
a business or other undertaking to its economic detriment when the officer or employee has a
substantial personal interest in a competing firm or undertaking.

Ethical Requirements Adopted by the Community Choice Schools Commission

(1) A Member may not hold a paid position with a Choice School or any entity in which the Choice School
holds a contract for services.

(2) A Member voluntarily leaving the Commission may not obtain employment that would not be
available to others with a Choice School or Authorizer in which the member was involved in approving a
contract within 12 months of leaving the Commission. This also applies to any entities in which the
member has approved a contract for services directly with the Commission.

(3) A Member who is an employee or governing board member of a Choice School or Authorizer, has a
relative who serves as an employee or governing board member at a Choice School or Authorizer,
including a child enrolled in or seeking enrollment in a Choice School, has a direct financial interest in a
company that may profit from a Choice School or Authorizer, the Member shall disclose the interest prior
to participating in a vote to approve or deny a charter or authorizer contract. This also applies to any
entities seeking to contract directly with the Commission.

(4) A Member who is an employee or governing board member of a Choice School or Authorizer, has a
relative who serves as an employee or governing board member at a Choice School or Authorizer,
including a child enrolled in or seeking enrollment in a Choice School, has a direct financial interest in a
company that may profit from a Choice School or Authorizer, the Member shall recuse themselves from
voting on any contract approvals and renewals including Choice Schools, Authorizers, or contracts for
service directly with the Commission.

15



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Conflict of Interest

Procedures Adopted by the Community Choice Schools Commission

(1) Duty to Disclose

(a) In connection with any actual or possible conflict of interest, an interested Member must disclose the
existence of the interest in a public Commission meeting and be given the opportunity to disclose all
material facts to the Commission considering the proposed transaction or arrangement.

(b) At this time the Member may voluntarily recuse him or herself from any discussion and/or
subsequent Commission vote regarding the subject of the potential conflict of interest.

(c) If there is need of further determination whether a conflict exists, after disclosure of the interest and
all material facts, and after any discussion with the interested Member, he/she shall leave the
Commission meeting while the determination of a conflict of interest is discussed and voted upon. The
remaining Commission Members shall decide if a conflict of interest exists.

(2) Violations of the Conflicts of Interest Policy

(a) If the Commission has reasonable cause to believe a Member has failed to disclose actual or possible
conflicts of interest, it shall inform the Member of the basis for such belief and afford the Member an
opportunity to explain the alleged failure to disclose.

(3) Enforcement

(a) If, after hearing the Member’s response and after making further investigation as warranted by the
circumstances, the Commission determines by majority vote the Member has failed to disclose an actual
or possible conflict of interest, it shall take appropriate disciplinary and corrective action as pursuant to
2-2-136. Enforcement for judicial officers, state officers, legislators, and state employees -- referral of
complaint involving county attorney.

Annual Statement
Each Commission Member shall receive a copy of this policy on an annual basis and affirm in a public
meeting of the Commission for public record that such Member:

1) Has received a copy of the conflicts of interest policy,

2) Has read and understands the policy, and

3) Has agreed to comply with the policy.

16



Montana Open Meeting Laws

Part One — Notice and Opportunity to Be Heard
Montana Code Annotated 2023

2-3-101. Legislative intent. The legislature finds and declares pursuant to the mandate of Article Il,
section 8, of the 1972 Montana constitution that legislative guidelines should be established to
secure to the people of Montana their constitutional right to be afforded reasonable opportunity to
participate in the operation of governmental agencies prior to the final decision of the agency.
History: En. 82-4226 by Sec. 1, Ch. 491, L. 1975; R.C.M. 1947, 82-4226.

2-3-102. Definitions. As used in this part, the following definitions apply:

(1) "Agency" means any board, bureau, commission, department, authority, or officer of the
state or local government authorized by law to make rules, determine contested cases, or enter
into contracts except:

(a) the legislature and any branch, committee, or officer thereof;

(b) the judicial branches and any committee or officer thereof;

(c) the governor, except that an agency is not exempt because the governor has been
designated as a member thereof; or

(d) the state military establishment and agencies concerned with civil defense and recovery
from hostile attack.

(2) "Agency action" means the whole or a part of the adoption of an agency rule, the issuance
of a license or order, the award of a contract, or the equivalent or denial thereof.

(3) "Rule" means any agency regulation, standard, or statement of general applicability that
implements, interprets, or prescribes law or policy or describes the organization, procedures, or
practice requirements of any agency. The term includes the amendment or repeal of a prior rule
but does not include:

(a) statements concerning only the internal management of an agency and not affecting
private rights or procedures available to the public; or

(b) declaratory rulings as to the applicability of any statutory provision or of any rule.
History: En. 82-4227 by Sec. 2, Ch. 491, L. 1975; amd. Sec. 23, Ch. 285, L. 1977; amd. Sec. 1,
Ch. 452, L. 1977; R.C.M. 1947, 82-4227(part); amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 243, L. 1979.

2-3-103. Public participation -- governor to ensure guidelines adopted -- procedures for publishing
notice. (1) (a) Each agency shall develop procedures for permitting and encouraging the public to
participate in agency decisions that are of significant interest to the public. The procedures must
ensure adequate notice and assist public participation before a final agency action is taken that is of
significant interest to the public.

(b) The agency shall publish an agenda for a meeting, as defined in 2-3-202, as follows: (i) if a
newspaper of general circulation in the county where the agency is located publishes electronic
notices and links to meeting agendas free of charge to the agency on the newspaper's website, the
agency shall provide the notice and agenda to the newspaper to post on the newspaper's website; (ii)
if the agency does not have an option to post notices and links to meeting agendas free of charge, the
agency shall provide adequate notice of a meeting by doing at least one of the following: (A) posting a
link to the meeting agenda on the agency's primary website; or

(B) posting the agenda on the social media site of the agency.

(c) The agenda must include an item allowing public comment on any public matter that is not on
the agenda of the meeting and that is within the jurisdiction of the agency conducting the meeting.

17



However,
the agency may not take action on any matter discussed unless specific notice of that matter is
included on an agenda and public comment has been allowed on that matter.

(d) Public comment received at a meeting must be incorporated into the official minutes of
the meeting, as provided in 2-3-212.

(e) For purposes of this section, "public matter" does not include contested case and
other adjudicative proceedings.

(2) The governor shall ensure that each board, bureau, commission, department, authority, agency,
or officer of the executive branch of the state adopts coordinated rules for its programs. The guidelines
must provide policies and procedures to facilitate public participation in those programs, consistent
with subsection (1). These guidelines must be adopted as rules and published in a manner so that the
rules may be provided to a member of the public upon request.

History: En. 82-4228 by Sec. 3, Ch. 491, L. 1975; amd. Sec. 24, Ch. 285, L. 1977; amd. Sec. 2, Ch. 452,
L. 1977; R.C.M. 1947, 82-4228(1), (5); amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 425, L. 2003; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 396, L. 2023.

2-3-104. Requirements for compliance with notice provisions. An agency shall be considered to
have complied with the notice provisions of 2-3-103 if:

(1) an environmental impact statement is prepared and distributed as required by the
Montana Environmental Policy Act, Title 75, chapter 1;

(2) a proceeding is held as required by the Montana Administrative Procedure Act; (3) a public
hearing, after appropriate notice is given, is held pursuant to any other provision of state law or a
local ordinance or resolution; or

(4) a newspaper of general circulation within the area to be affected by a decision of significant
interest to the public has carried a news story or advertisement concerning the decision
sufficiently prior to a final decision to permit public comment on the matter.

History: En. 82-4228 by Sec. 3, Ch. 491, L. 1975; amd. Sec. 24, Ch. 285, L. 1977; amd. Sec. 2,
Ch. 452, L. 1977; R.C.M. 1947, 82-4228(2).

2-3-105. Supplemental notice by radio or television. (1) An official of the state or any of its
political subdivisions who is required by law to publish a notice required by law may supplement
the publication by a radio or television broadcast of a summary of the notice or by both when in
the official's judgment the public interest will be served.

(2) The summary of the notice must be read without a reference to any person by name who
is then a candidate for political office.

(3) The announcements may be made only by duly employed personnel of the station from
which the broadcast emanates.

(4) Announcements by political subdivisions may be made only by stations situated within the
county of origin of the legal notice unless a broadcast station does not exist in that county, in
which case announcements may be made by a station or stations situated in any county other
than the county of origin of the legal notice.

History: En. Sec. 1, Ch. 149, L. 1963; R.C.M. 1947, 19-201; amd. Sec. 38, Ch. 61, L. 2007.

2-3-106. Period for which copy retained. Each radio or television station broadcasting any
summary of a legal notice shall for a period of 6 months subsequent to such broadcast retain at
its office a copy or transcription of the text of the summary as actually broadcast, which shall
be available for public inspection.

History: En. Sec. 2, Ch. 149, L. 1963; R.C.M. 1947, 19-202.

2-3-107. Proof of publication by broadcast. Proof of publication of a summary of any notice by
radio or television broadcast shall be by affidavit of the manager, an assistant manager, or a

18



program director of the radio or television station broadcasting the same.
History: En. Sec. 3, Ch. 149, L. 1963; R.C.M. 1947, 19-203.

2-3-111. Opportunity to submit views -- public hearings. (1) Procedures for assisting public
participation must include a method of affording interested persons reasonable opportunity to
submit data, views, or arguments, orally or in written form, prior to making a final decision that is of
significant interest to the public.

(2) When a state agency other than the board of regents proposes to take an action that directly
impacts a specific community or area and a public hearing is held, the hearing must be held in an
accessible facility in the impacted community or area or in the nearest community or area with an
accessible facility.

History: En. 82-4228 by Sec. 3, Ch. 491, L. 1975; amd. Sec. 24, Ch. 285, L. 1977; amd. Sec. 2,
Ch. 452, L. 1977; R.C.M. 1947, 82-4228(3); amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 487, L. 1997.

2-3-112. Exceptions. The provisions of 2-3-103 and 2-3-111 do not apply to: (1) an agency decision
that must be made to deal with an emergency situation affecting the public health, welfare, or
safety;

(2) an agency decision that must be made to maintain or protect the interests of the agency,
including but not limited to the filing of a lawsuit in a court of law or becoming a party to an
administrative proceeding; or

(3) a decision involving no more than a ministerial act.

History: En. 82-4228 by Sec. 3, Ch. 491, L. 1975; amd. Sec. 24, Ch. 285, L. 1977; amd. Sec. 2,
Ch. 452, L. 1977; R.C.M. 1947, 82-4228(4).

2-3-113. Declaratory rulings to be published. The declaratory rulings of any board, bureau,
commission, department, authority, agency, or officer of the state which is not subject to the
Montana Administrative Procedure Act shall be published and be subject to judicial review as
provided under 2-4-623(6) and 2-4-501, respectively.

History: En. 82-4227 by Sec. 2, Ch. 491, L. 1975; amd. Sec. 23, Ch. 285, L. 1977; amd. Sec. 1,

Ch. 452, L. 1977; R.C.M. 1947, 82-4227(part); amd. Sec. 3, Ch. 184, L. 1979.

2-3-114. Enforcement -- attorney fees. (1) The district courts of the state have jurisdiction to set
aside an agency decision under this part upon petition of any person whose rights have been
prejudiced. A petition pursuant to this section must be filed within 30 days of the date on which the
person learns, or reasonably should have learned, of the agency's decision.

(2) A person alleging a deprivation of rights who prevails in an action brought in district court to
enforce the person's rights under Article Il, section 8, of the Montana constitution may be awarded
costs and reasonable attorney fees.

History: En. 82-4229 by Sec. 4, Ch. 491, L. 1975; amd. Sec. 25, Ch. 285, L. 1977; R.C.M. 1947,
82-4229; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 211, L. 2007; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 266, L. 2015.

Part Two — Open Meetings
Montana Code Annotated 2023

2-3-201. Legislative intent -- liberal construction. The legislature finds and declares that public
boards, commissions, councils, and other public agencies in this state exist to aid in the conduct
of the peoples' business. It is the intent of this part that actions and deliberations of all public
agencies shall be conducted openly. The people of the state do not wish to abdicate their

19



sovereignty to the agencies which serve them. Toward these ends, the provisions of the part
shall be liberally construed.
History: En. Sec. 1, Ch. 159, L. 1963; R.C.M. 1947, 82-3401.

2-3-202. Meeting defined. As used in this part, "meeting" means the convening of a quorum of
the constituent membership of a public agency or association described in 2-3-203, whether
corporal or by means of electronic equipment, to hear, discuss, or act upon a matter over which
the agency has supervision, control, jurisdiction, or advisory power.

History: En. 82-3404 by Sec. 2, Ch. 567, L. 1977; R.C.M. 1947, 82-3404; amd. Sec. 2, Ch. 183, L.
1987

2-3-203. Meetings of public agencies and certain associations of public agencies to be open to
public -- exceptions. (1) All meetings of public or governmental bodies, boards, bureaus,
commissions, agencies of the state, or any political subdivision of the state or organizations or
agencies supported in whole or in part by public funds or expending public funds, including the
supreme court, must be open to the public.

(2) All meetings of associations that are composed of public or governmental bodies referred
to in subsection (1) and that regulate the rights, duties, or privileges of any individual must be
open to the public.

(3) The presiding officer of any meeting may close the meeting during the time the
discussion relates to a matter of individual privacy and then if and only if the presiding officer
determines that the demands of individual privacy clearly exceed the merits of public
disclosure. The right of individual privacy may be waived by the individual about whom the
discussion pertains and, in that event, the meeting must be open.

(4) (a) Except as provided in subsection (4)(b), a meeting may be closed to discuss a strategy
to be followed with respect to litigation when an open meeting would have a detrimental effect
on the litigating position of the public agency.

(b) A meeting may not be closed to discuss strategy to be followed in litigation in which the
only parties are public bodies or associations described in subsections (1) and (2). (5) The
supreme court may close a meeting that involves judicial deliberations in an adversarial
proceeding.

(6) Any committee or subcommittee appointed by a public body or an association described
in subsection (2) for the purpose of conducting business that is within the jurisdiction of that
agency is subject to the requirements of this section.

History: En. Sec. 2, Ch. 159, L. 1963; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 474, L. 1975; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 567, L.
1977; R.C.M. 1947, 82-3402; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 380, L. 1979; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 183, L. 1987; amd.
Sec. 1, Ch. 123, L. 1993; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 218, L. 2005.

2-3-211. Recording. A person may not be excluded from any open meeting under this part and may
not be prohibited from photographing, televising, transmitting images or audio by electronic or
digital means, or recording open meetings. The presiding officer may ensure that these activities do
not interfere with the conduct of the meeting.

History: En. 82-3405 by Sec. 4, Ch. 567, L. 1977; R.C.M. 1947, 82-3405; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 138, L.
2017.

2-3-212. Minutes of meetings -- public inspection. (1) Appropriate minutes of all meetings required
by 2-3-203 to be open must be kept and must be available for inspection by the public. If an audio
recording of a meeting is made and designated as official, the recording constitutes the official
record of the meeting. If an official recording is made, a written record of the meeting must also be
made and must include the information specified in subsection (2).

20



(2) Minutes must include without limitation:

(a) the date, time, and place of the meeting;

(b) a list of the individual members of the public body, agency, or organization who were in
attendance;

(c) the substance of all matters proposed, discussed, or decided; and

(d) at the request of any member, a record of votes by individual members for any votes taken.
(3) If the minutes are recorded and designated as the official record, a log or time stamp for each
main agenda item is required for the purpose of providing assistance to the public in accessing that
portion of the meeting.

(4) Any time a presiding officer closes a public meeting pursuant to 2-3-203, the presiding officer
shall ensure that minutes taken in compliance with subsection (2) are kept of the closed portion of
the meeting. The minutes from the closed portion of the meeting may not be made available for
inspection except pursuant to a court order.

History: En. Sec. 3, Ch. 159, L. 1963; amd. Sec. 3, Ch. 567, L. 1977; R.C.M. 1947, 82-3403; amd.
Sec. 1, Ch. 65, L. 2011; amd. Sec. 29, Ch. 348, L. 2015.

2-3-213. Voidability. Any decision made in violation of 2-3-203 may be declared void by a district
court having jurisdiction. A suit to void a decision must be commenced within 30 days of the date
on which the plaintiff or petitioner learns, or reasonably should have learned, of the agency's
decision. History: En. 82-3406 by Sec. 5, Ch. 567, L. 1977; R.C.M. 1947, 82-3406; amd. Sec. 2, Ch.
211, L. 2007.

2-3-214. Recording of meetings for certain boards. (1) Except as provided in 2-3-203 and subsection
(6) of this section, the following boards shall record their public meetings in an audio and video
format: (a) the board of investments provided for in 2-15-1808;

(b) the public employees' retirement board provided for in 2-15-1009;

(c) the teachers' retirement board provided for in 2-15-1010;

(d) the board of public education provided for in Article X, section 9, of the Montana
constitution; (e) the board of regents of higher education provided for in Article X, section 9, of
the Montana constitution;

(f) except as provided in subsection (7)(a), the governing board of a county provided for in Title
7, chapter 1, part 21;

(g) except as provided in subsection (7)(b), the governing board of a first-class and second-class city
provided for in Title 7, chapter 1, part 41;

(h) a first-class or second-class school district board of trustees provided for in Article X, section 8,
of the Montana constitution, 20-6-201, and 20-6-301; and

(i) a local board of health provided for in Title 50, chapter 2, part 1.

(2) (a) The boards listed in subsections (1)(a) through (1)(e) shall make the audio and video
recordings of meetings under subsection (1) publicly available within 1 business day after the meeting
through broadcast on the state government broadcasting service as provided in 5-11-1111 or through
publication of streaming audio and video content on the respective board's website.

(b) The boards listed in subsections (1)(f) through (1)(i) shall make the audio and video recordings
publicly available within 5 business days after the meeting with a link to the recording on the
respective board's website. If the board does not maintain a website, it shall maintain a social media
page and provide a link to the recording on the social media page.

(c) The department of administration may develop a memorandum of understanding with the
legislative services division for broadcasting executive branch content on the state government
broadcasting service or live-streaming audio or video executive branch content over the internet.

(3) For the boards listed in subsections (1)(f) through (1)(i) that maintain minutes as required by

21



2-3- 212, the audio and video recordings created pursuant to this section are not required to be the
official record of the meeting. If a recording is not designated as the official record, the recording may
be destroyed after being retained online for 1 year and is not subject to the requirements of Title 2,
chapter 6, for public information requests.

(4) A board is not required to disrupt or reschedule a meeting if there is a technological failure of
the meeting recording. If the recording is not able to be made available online, the board shall
prominently post a notice in the same manner as a notice of a public meeting and shall post a notice
at all locations where the meeting recording links are available. The notice must explain the reason
the meeting was not recorded and describe the steps taken to remedy the failure prior to the next
meeting.

(5) The requirements of this section apply only when a board is acting on a matter over which the
board has supervision, control, jurisdiction, or advisory power at a public meeting as defined in
2-3-202 that has been publicly noticed as required by 2-3-103.

(6) The requirements of this section do not apply to a board listed in subsection (1)(f) when a
quorum is incidentally established as described in 7-5-2122(4) and (5) solely on the basis of sharing a
common office space.

(7) The following boards must meet the requirements of this section, except that meetings
may be recorded, retained, and made available in audio format only:

(a) the governing board of a county with a population of less than 4,500; and

(b) the governing board of a third-class city.

(8) Expenditures by a school district on staff, consultants, equipment, software licenses, storage,
or security made to fulfill the requirements of this section qualify as a school facility project under
20-9-525. History: En. Sec. 1, Ch. 133, L. 2015; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 741, L. 2023.

2-3-221. Costs to prevailing party in certain actions to enforce constitutional right to know. A
person alleging a deprivation of rights who prevails in an action brought in district court to enforce
the person's rights under Article Il, section 9, of the Montana constitution may be awarded costs
and reasonable attorney fees.

History: En. 93-8632 by Sec. 1, Ch. 493, L. 1975; R.C.M. 1947, 93-8632; amd. Sec. 39, Ch. 61, L.
2007; amd. Sec. 30, Ch. 348, L. 2015.

Part Three — Use of Electronic Mail Systems
Montana Code Annotated 2019

2-3-301. Agency to accept public comment electronically -- dissemination of electronic mail
address and documents required -- fees prohibited. (1) An agency that accepts public comment
pursuant to a statute, administrative rule, or policy, including an agency adopting rules pursuant to
the Montana Administrative Procedure Act or an agency to which 2-3-111 applies, shall provide

for the receipt of public comment by the agency by use of an electronic mail system. (2) As part of
the agency action required by subsection (1), an agency shall disseminate by appropriate media its
electronic mail address to which public comment may be made, including dissemination in:

(a) rulemaking notices published pursuant to the Montana Administrative Procedure Act; (b) the
telephone directory of state agencies published by the department of administration; (c) any notice
of agency existence, purpose, and operations published on the internet; or (d) any combination of
the methods of dissemination provided in subsections (2)(a) through (2)(c).

(3) An agency shall, at the request of another agency or person and subject to 2-6-1003,
disseminate the electronic documents to that agency or person by electronic mail in place of
surface mail. Notification of the availability of an electronic notice of proposed rulemaking may be

22



sent to an interested person as provided in 2-4-302(2)(a)(ii). An agency may not charge a fee for
providing documents by electronic mail in accordance with this subsection.

(4) An agency that receives electronic mail pursuant to subsection (1) shall retain the electronic
mail as either an electronic or a paper copy to the same extent that other comments are retained.

(5) As used in this section, "agency" means a department, division, bureau, office, board,
commission, authority, or other agency of the executive branch of state government. History: En.
Sec. 1, Ch. 484, L. 1999; amd. Sec. 1, Ch. 77, L. 2001; amd. Sec. 19, Ch. 313, L. 2001; amd. Sec. 1,
Ch. 41, L. 2011; amd. Sec. 31, Ch. 348, L. 2015.

23



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Request for Non-Travel Related Expenses
Community Choice Schools Commission

1) Name of Person Requesting Reimbursement

2) Amount Requested

3) Description of Expenditure

4) Submitted By Signature and Date

5) Authorized By Signature and Date

24



MONTANA

COMMUNITY
CHOICE SCHOOLS

Request for Professional Development
Community Choice Schools Commission

1) Name of Person Requesting Professional Development Reimbursement

2) Amount Requested
Conference Fee:
Travel:
Lodging:
Meals:
Other:
TOTAL:

3) Conference Location & Travel Dates

4) Description of Conference

5) Submitted By Signature and Date

6) Authorized By Signature and Date

25



	07 CCS Commission Member Handbook 2025 8.20.25.pdf
	10 Open Meetings Law Member Handbook.pdf
	Legislative Intent -- Liberal Construction 
	Meeting Defined 
	Meetings Of Public Agencies And Certain Associations Of Public Agencies To Be Open To Public -- Exceptions 
	Recording 
	Minutes Of Meetings -- Public Inspection 
	Voidability 
	Recording Of Meetings For Certain Boards 
	Costs To Prevailing Party In Certain Actions To Enforce Constitutional Right To Know 


	04 08272025 Commission Financials.pdf
	REV-EXP by Fund,Org

	000 CCS Commission Member Handbook 2025 9.2.25.pdf
	10 Open Meetings Law Member Handbook.pdf
	Legislative Intent -- Liberal Construction 
	Meeting Defined 
	Meetings Of Public Agencies And Certain Associations Of Public Agencies To Be Open To Public -- Exceptions 
	Recording 
	Minutes Of Meetings -- Public Inspection 
	Voidability 
	Recording Of Meetings For Certain Boards 
	Costs To Prevailing Party In Certain Actions To Enforce Constitutional Right To Know 





